

Evaluating Motivation and Reward Mechanisms and Brain Substrates in Adults with Obesity: Further evidence that obesity affects physical and mental health

Roger S. McIntyre

Professor of Psychiatry and Pharmacology, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada Chairman and Executive Director, Brain and Cognition Discovery Foundation (BCDF), Toronto, Canada Director, Depression and Bipolar Support Alliance (DBSA), Chicago, USA Head, Mood Disorders Psychopharmacology Unit <u>http://www.mdpu.ca/</u> Professor and Nanshan Scholar, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China Adjunct Professor College of Medicine, Korea University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

> Mailing Address: 73 Mathersfield Drive Toronto, ON M3W 3W4 Canada Telephone: 416-669-5279 Fax: 416-603-5368 Email: roger.mcintyre@uhn.ca



Table of Contents

STUDY SYNOPSIS	3
INTRODUCTION	4
HYPOTHESIS	5
METHODOLOGY	5
PARTICIPANTS	5
INCLUSION/EXCLUSION CRITERIA	5
MEASUREMENTS OBTAINED AT SINGLE VISIT	6
PROCEDURES FOR PARTICIPANTS	8
ADVERSE EVENTS	8
DEFINITIONS	8
RECORDING OF ADVERSE EVENTS	
REPORTING OF SERIOUS ADVERSE EVENTS	
RISKS RELATED TO INVOLVEMENT IN STUDY	
BENEFITS RELATED TO INVOLVEMENT IN STUDY	
TIMELINE	
PRIMARY AND SECONDARY OUTCOME MEASURES	
EEFRT, PRT, MID TASK	12
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	12
DATA HANDLING	14
PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION	14
DATA RETENTION	14
PARTICIPANT PROTECTION	14
IMPLICATIONS	14
REFERENCES	



Study Synopsis:

Anhedonia and abnormalities in reward behavior are core features of overweight/obesity (OW), a highly prevalent condition within MDD populations and is independently associated with reward disturbances. We therefore aimed to investigate the brain substrates subserving reward and motivation in adults with overweight/obesity. Herein, we are primarily interested in three overlapping, yet distinct aspects, of anhedonia. We are primarily interested in motivation, reward valuation, and reward learning towards addressing the measurement of each of these respective subdomains, eligible participants will complete validated gold standard measures (i.e. the Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT) (reward valuation), Probabilistic Reward Task (PRT) (reward learning), and the Monetary Incentive Delay (MID) task (reward anticipation)).

Twenty adults with overweight/obesity will complete all tasks at a single visit with two of the tasks being completed prior to MRI and one of the tasks (i.e. EEfRT) will be completed during MRI acquisition.

The **primary aim** of this pilot study is to determine whether associations exist between obesity and decreased performance on the respective motivation/reward paradigms. In addition, associations between performance on reward tasks and functional connectivity, as measured by MRI and DTI, a secondary objective is to ascertain whether associations exist between performance on the motivation reward tasks and gold standard measures of food intake (i.e. food diary) and energy expenditure (i.e. calorimetry).



Introduction

Anhedonia is a significant complaint and psychopathology in OW. Anhedonia is defined as markedly diminished interest or pleasure in all, or almost all, activities for an extended period of time. Anhedonia is a core criterion item for the diagnosis of MDD and OW, and is a robust predictor of poor longitudinal course of symptoms¹⁻⁴. Existing psychological and pharmacological treatments are relatively ineffective for treating anhedonia, as they have little effect, and in some cases may even worsen anhedonic symptoms^{2,5}. As a result, anhedonia is one of the most prevalent residual symptoms following treatment with antidepressants in individuals with MDD and OW^{2,6,7}.

Anhedonia includes elements of multiple reward processes⁸⁻¹⁰. Reward systems are primarily responsible for responses to positive motivational situations or contexts, such as reward seeking, and reward/habit learning⁸⁻¹⁰. Evidence indicates that individuals with mood disorders exhibit abnormalities in multiple subcomponents of reward¹³⁻¹⁷. One of the main reward sub-constructs of interest in MDD is reward valuation, which includes the measurement of value and/or incentive salience of a prospective outcome and the willingness to work for it (i.e. effort)^{11,12}. A consistent finding in MDD has been a decrease in the willingness to expend effort for rewards^{13-16,18}. Individuals with depression display reduced motivation on effort-based decision making¹⁴⁻¹⁶, a dissociation between liking a reward and the willingness to exert effort for it¹³, and an increased subjective feeling of having exerted more effort¹⁶.

Replicated evidence indicates that OW is highly prevalent in MDD populations. Metaanalytical studies have estimated the prevalence of obesity in MDD between 30 and 70%¹⁹⁻²². Conversely, OW has been consistently associated with motivational deficits, to both food and non-food rewards²³. Evidence indicates that in obesity the anticipatory reward response seems to be increased^{24,25}, whereas, similar to MDD, the willingness to invest effort is diminished^{26,27}.



Within MDD populations, obesity, and its metabolic correlates (e.g. insulin resistance), have been associated with increased self-reported anhedonia^{28,29}. As a result, anhedonia has been proposed as a key clinical mediator between MDD and metabolic comorbidities^{30,31}.

Nevertheless, few studies have used objective methods to assess reward deficits in populations with MDD and obesity. Herein, we aim to explore the role of OW in effort-based decision making in overweight/obese adults with varying levels of body mass index (BMI) above 30kg/m². We primarily aim to investigate the effects of OW correlation with effort for rewards, as measured by the Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT). The secondary aim is to examine the associations between effort-based decision-making as measured by EEfRT, with MRI/DTI measured alterations in reciprocity between reward and cognitive control circuits.

We **hypothesize** that obesity is associated with deficits in each of the reward paradigms we have selected. We also **hypothesize** that the foregoing disturbances correlate with functional disconnectivity within reward/cognitive control networks.

Methodology

Participants

Participants will be identified at the Brain and Cognition Discovery Foundation (BCDF). Twenty subjects with obesity, will be enrolled. All patients will be assessed for concurrent psychiatric disorders (e.g. mood disorders). Eligibility criteria are as follows: inclusion criteria: (a) 18-65 years of age; (b) meeting DSM-V criteria for: (i) major depressive disorder (symptomatic or asymptomatic in any phase of the illness) or (ii) bipolar disorder I/II (symptomatic or asymptomatic in any phase of the illness); (c) ability to provide written and informed consent; (d) obesity 30 kg/m²; (e) weight under 440lbs; (f) shoulder-to-shoulder width under 60 cm; Exclusion criteria are as follows: (a) age below 18 or above 65; (b) use of benzodiazepines or consumption of alcohol within 12 hours of assessments; (c) abuse of marijuana; (d) physical,



cognitive, or language impairments sufficient to adversely affect data derived from assessments; (e) diagnosed reading disability or dyslexia; (f) clinically significant learning disorder by history; (g) history of moderate or severe traumatic brain injury; (h) other neurological disorders, or unstable systemic medical diseases; and (i) pregnancy and post-partum period (j) presence of any contra-indications for MRI; (k) weight above 440lbs; (l) shoulder-to-shoulder width greater than 60 cm. All subjects will be consented prior to initiating the study; (m) >45 BMI; (n) suicidality as determined by clinical discretion.

Measurements Obtained at Single Visit

- 1. Sociodemographic:
 - a. Age
 - b. Sex
 - c. Education
 - d. Employment Status
 - e. Education Attainment
 - f. Marital Status
 - g. Ethnicity and Race
- 2. Illness Measurements:
 - a. Severity of depression will be assessed with the Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QUIDS)
 - b. Measurement of anhedonia composite (SHAPS)
 - c. Self-rated cognitive measurement (PDQ-5) Perceived Deficit Questionnaire 5
 - d. Objective cognitive measurement (TMTA/B)
 - e. Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST)
 - f. UCLA Loneliness Scale



- g. Food Diary
- h. Calorimetry
- i. Anxiety Measurement (Hamilton Anxiety Scale) (HAMD)
- j. Age of onset
- k. Number of episodes
- I. Number of hospitalizations
- m. Duration of current episode
- n. Psychiatric comorbidity
- o. Number of treatments
- 3. Medical Assessment:
 - a. Weight
 - b. Height
 - c. Waist circumference
- 4. Laboratory Measures:
 - a. Blood glucose
 - b. Cholesterol and fractionation (E.g. HDL, LDL and triglycerides)
 - c. Insulin levels
 - d. Interleukin 1, interleukin 6, interleukin 10, tumor nercosis factor alpha, c reactive peptide, adiponectin, leptin, gherlin, DPP-IV
 - e. Oxidative stress markers (e.g. TBARS)
- 5. Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT)
- 6. Monetary Incentive Delay (MID) task
- 7. Probabilistic Reward Task (PRT)
- 8. MRI Scan



All assessments and scan will be done on the same day.

Procedures for Participants

Visit 1

The single visit entails the provision of detailed study information to participant and obtainment of informed written consent, as well as completion of all questionnaires, activities, MRI, and participant compensation. The psychiatrists will assess participants' eligibility based on inclusion/exclusion criteria and confirm a diagnosis of MDD or BD based on their scheduled appointment visit. Demographics including date of birth, sex, and race will be recorded. Years of education will be recorded as well. Psychiatric and medical history, number of psychotropic medications received according to participant self-report/clinical chart review, as well as anthropometrics (including height, weight and waist circumference) will be measured. Participants will complete a series of questionnaires to assess their illness. These include: Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS), Snaith-Hamilton Pleasure Scale (SHAPS), Perceived Deficits Questionnaire for Depression (PDQ-5-D), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD). Participants will also have loneliness assessed by participating in the UCLA Loneliness Scale. All self-reports will be administered by a member of the study team. Participants will record their food intake via a Food Diary, and will have a Calorimetry test taken. Participants will also complete cognitive measures including the Trail Making Test A/B (TMT A/B), and the Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST). Participants will then complete the Monetary Incentive Delay (MID) task, as well as the Probabilistic Reward Task (PRT). All study procedures will take place in a quiet setting. Fasting (12-hours) clinical and research bloodwork will also be collected. Participants will be escorted by a study member to the MRI facility where they will complete the MRI and the Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT). Upon completion of the MRI, participants will receive the reimbursement fee for their participation in the study.

Adverse Events

Definitions:

<u>Adverse event</u>: An adverse event is the development of an undesirable medical condition or the deterioration of a pre-existing medical condition following or during exposure to a pharmaceutical product, whether or not considered causally related to the product. An



undesirable medical condition can be symptoms (e.g., nausea, chest pain), signs (e.g., tachycardia, enlarged liver) or the abnormal results of an investigation (e.g., laboratory findings, electrocardiogram). In clinical studies, an AE can include an undesirable medical condition occurring at any time, including run-in or washout periods, even if no study treatment has been administered.

<u>Serious adverse event</u>: A serious adverse event is an AE occurring during any study phase (i.e., run-in, treatment, washout, follow-up), and at any dose of the investigational product, comparator or placebo, that fulfils one or more of the following criteria:

- results in death
- is immediately life-threatening
- requires in-patient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization
- results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity
- is a congenital abnormality or birth defect

• is an important medical event that may jeopardize the patient or may require medical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed above.

The causality of SAEs (i.e., their relationship to study treatment) will be assessed by the investigator(s). Note that SAEs that could be associated with any study procedure should also be reported. For such events the casual relationship is implied as "yes".

Recording of Adverse Events

AEs will be collected during each visit. At each visit, subjects will be asked if they have had any health problems since the previous visit. All AEs will be recorded appropriately, whether or not considered related to the investigational product. This will include AEs spontaneously reported by the patient and/or observed by the staff as well as AEs reported in response to a direct question e.g. "Have you had any health problems since your last visit?"

For each AE, the following parameters be described:

- start and stop date
- action taken with regards to investigational product
- outcome
- if the AE caused the patient to discontinue
- a statement if the AE fulfils the criteria for a SAE or not



• the investigator's assessment of the causal relationship between the event and the investigational product

- intensity of the AE
- o mild (awareness of sign or symptom, but easily tolerated)
- o moderate (discomfort sufficient to cause interference with normal activities)
- o severe (incapacitating, with inability to perform normal activities)

It is important to distinguish between serious and severe AEs. Severity is a measure of intensity whereas seriousness is defined by the criteria in Section. An AE of severe intensity need not necessarily be considered serious. For example, nausea that persists for several hours may be considered severe nausea, but not an SAE. On the other hand, a stroke that results in only a limited degree of disability may be considered a mild stroke but would be an SAE.

Symptoms associated with overdose should be reported as AEs. For further information regarding overdose, see section.

Pregnancy in itself is not regarded as an AE unless there is a suspicion that an investigational product may have interfered with the effectiveness of a contraceptive medication.

Follow-up of adverse events should be based upon the clinical judgement of the investigator.

Reporting of Serious Adverse Events

Reporting of SAEs to regulatory authorities will be done by the investigator in accordance with local regulations. A copy of the report will also be sent to the manufacturer of the investigational product.

Risks Related to Being in the Study

This study has risks. Some of these risks we know about. There is also a possibility of risks that we do not know about that have not been seen in study participants to date. Some can be managed. Please call the study doctor if you have any side effects even if you do not think they have anything to do with this study. The risks we know of are:

a) MRI risks: There are few potential risks of having an MRI scan, as it is a non-invasive procedure and does not involve any radiation. The main potential risk comes from loose metal objects, which, if taken near the scanner, could be dangerous. The combination of the noise of the scanner and confined space can also be stressful for people who feel uncomfortable in closed spaces.



- b) Blood draw risks: Drawing blood may cause very mild pain, bruising, redness, and rarely infection at the needle stick.
- c) Other risks: In addition to medical risks, being in this study may make you feel uncomfortable. You will be asked personal questions about your psychiatric and medical history. You may refuse to answer questions or stop the interview at any time if there is any discomfort. Administering the cognitive testing may sometimes be frustrating particularly if you are not performing as well as you think you should, and may also lead to mild mental and physical fatigue.

Benefits to Being in the Study

You may or may not receive any direct benefit from being in this study. Information learned from this study may help other people with mood disorders in the future.

Timeline

It is estimated that it will require approximately 3-5 months to recruit.

Primary and Secondary Outcome Measures

The **primary outcome measure** in this study will be the association between performance on the EEfRT, MID, and PRT. Anthropometric data will be obtained from all participants at the day of the EEfRT assessment. Body mass index (BMI) will be measured using the formula BMI = weight (Kg) / height (meters)². The **secondary outcome** will be the association between the EEfRT/ MID/PRT and function reciprocity of the reward circuit/cognitive control network as measured by MRI/DTI. All participants will also have whole blood samples collected after a 12 hour fast. Metabolic parameters will be measured immediately in a single laboratory with the same assay. Insulin resistance and beta-cell function (i.e. insulin secretion) in basal state will be calculated from fasting plasma glucose and fasting insulin using the HOMA2 calculator (http://www.dtu.ox.ac.uk)³³.



Effort Expenditure for Rewards Task (EEfRT), Probabilistic Rewards Task (PRT), and Monetary Incentive Delay (MID) task

The EEfRT measures participants' willingness to make efforts to obtain a monetary reward under different conditions of reward probability and magnitude^{14,18}. In each EEfRT trial, participants are given an opportunity to choose between two tasks with different levels of difficulty: "hard task" and "easy task." Successful completion of the easy task trials requires 30 button presses using the dominant index finger within 7 seconds, whereas the hard task trials requires 100 button presses using the non-dominant little finger within 21 seconds. Participants will be informed that successful trial completion does not guarantee winning the monetary reward. Before making a choice, participants are provided with information that varies from trial to trial regarding: (1) the probability (12%, 50%, or 88%) of winning the money; and (2) the magnitude of reward for successfully completing the hard task. The reward magnitude will be set at \$1.00 for easy tasks and higher amounts that will vary per trial within a range of \$1.24-\$4.30 for hard tasks. Probability levels will always be applied to both the hard task and easy task, and there will be equal proportions of each probability level across the experiment. Participants are given 20 minutes to perform the task; thus, the number of trials will vary across the participants. The Probabilistic Rewards Task (PRT) measures response bias and sensitivity to reward under variable conditions. The Monetary Incentive Delay (MID) task assesses the basis of anticipation and consumption of reward and punishment. Each test takes approximately 20 minutes to administer.

Statistical Analysis

Graph theoretical analysis (GTA) will be used to assess functional connectivity of the default mode network, cognitive control network, affect network and reward network. This is a



preliminary exploratory analysis, descriptive statistics will be conducted on the sociodemographic, clinical and metabolic parameters. Associations between obesity and alterations in functional connectivity will be the primary outcome of interest and additional coprimary outcome is the association between obesity and reward motivation as indexed by the EEfRT/MID/PRT task. Laboratory parameters will be used to explore potential mediational relationships between obesity and brain connectivity measurements, as well as reward performance.

For each variable, distribution normality will be assessed with one-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Comparisons between groups will be conducted using independent samples ttests and Mann-Whitney U (for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively). Participants are given 20 minutes to complete the EEfRT, and the number of trials completed during that time will vary among them (Table 1). Consistently with previous studies, only the first 50 trials will be used¹⁸. Similar to previous studies using the EEfRT, we will use generalized estimating equation (GEE) models to test the effects of groups, reward magnitude and probability on the willingness to expend effort for rewards (i.e. percentage of trials on which the 'hard' task was selected). We will use an independent matrix, which best fit our data, and a binary logistic distribution to model the dichotomous outcome of choosing the hard versus the easy task. All GEE models will include reward magnitude, probability, and expected value (EV, defined as the interaction between reward probability and magnitude). In addition, each model will include a trial number as a covariate to control for possible effects of fatigue over the course of the task. Reward magnitude will be categorized in three groups: low (<\$2.30), medium (\$2.31-\$3.29), and high (>\$3.30). To assess associations between EEfRT and clinical and metabolic data, we will calculate the mean proportions of hard-task choices for all subjects.

13



Stepwise linear regression will then be used to identify significant predictors. MRI/DTI will be attained for all subjects.

Data Handeling

Personal Data Protection

All data collection material will be de-identified. Participant records will be distinguished using participant identification (PID) numbers.

Data Retention

Records and documents pertaining to the conduct of the study as well as all data collected as part of the study will be retained in a secure place for 25 years in accordance with Health Canada regulations. All data collected throughout the study will be kept with membership of the BCDF for 25 years.

Participant Protection

Participants will not be placed at any risk as a result of the study. Information obtained will be maintained in a secure and confidential fashion. No participant will be coerced and/or placed under duress to complete study procedures.

Implications

We believe our results will comport with the notion that obesity ³¹ is subserved by disturbances in reward circuits and cognitive control networks. We believe that alterations in reward and motivation are fundamental brain disturbances due to obesity³⁴⁻³⁶,³⁷⁻³⁹. The Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) construct of reward is a core domain for the overlap between mood and metabolic disorders. We believe our results will show that obesity moderates and as a consequence of disturbance in reward and motivation and functional disconnectivity.

Mechanistically, a recent genetic study identified multiple genes that are shared between mood and metabolic disorders; and revealed an over-representation of genes involved in



dopamine signaling, which plays a crucial role in anhedonia and reward processing⁴⁰. In addition, obesity and MDD have a shared biosignature, with well-documented involvement of inflammatory mechanisms, hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) dysregulation, and oxidative/mitochondrial stress⁴¹⁻⁴³. Replicated neuroimaging studies have reported specific morphological alterations of the MDD and obesity comorbidity, implicating mainly medial prefrontal areas^{39,44}. Conversely, these areas are an important hub of reward valuation, and are known to be affected by, for example, inflammatory and metabolic mediators⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸.

One of the key subcomponents of metabolic dysfunction in obesity is insulin resistance⁴⁹. Insulin resistance has been associated with depressive symptoms in epidemiological studies⁵⁰ and, in clinical populations, with anhedonia specifically²⁸. Indeed, we observed a strong correlation between insulin resistance and willingness to expend effort in the MDD subgroup. Multiple brain regions that are relevant to reward systems have relatively increased expression of insulin receptors^{51,52}. Specifically, midbrain dopamine neurons, one of the main hubs of reward neurocircutiry^{53,54}, widely express insulin receptors⁵⁵. Imaging studies have reported that, in healthy individuals, insulin modulates brain activity in the hypothalamus, hippocampus and prefrontal cortex⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. A recent gene expression analysis reported that the differential expression of dopamine-related molecules in individuals with mood and psychotic disorders was related to altered expression of insulin signaling genes; an effect that was moderated by obesity in a region-specific manner (Mansur et al., 2018). As a result, peripheral insulin sensitivity has been shown to modulate reward behavior in humans. In obese adults, insulin resistance was associated with a stronger preference for immediately receiving a smaller, but certain, monetary reward over delaying the receipt of a larger, but less certain one (i.e. greater delay discounting)⁵⁹.

15



In humans, insulin resistance is associated with less endogenous dopamine at D2/3 receptors in the ventral striatum and nucleus accumbens, in both obese and non-obese adults^{60,61}. Another study documented that weight loss following bariatric surgery was associated with an increase in D2 receptor availability⁶². In effort-based decision-making, evidence indicates that dopamine responsivity, particularly in the striatum and ventromedial prefrontal cortex, is strongest for low probability trials^{63,64}. Conversely, we observed a stronger effect of overweight/obesity in the low reward trials. If overweight/obesity and the peripheral measures of insulin resistance used herein do indeed reflect and/or are associated with brain insulin resistance, it could be posited that disturbances in central insulin signaling lead to decreased dopamine sensitivity, resulting in an increased likelihood to choose low-effort options. This hypothesis, however, has two principle outstanding questions. First, it relies on the assumption that peripheral and brain insulin sensitivity are correlated (or that peripheral measures are reliable indicators of central processes), which is insufficiently characterized^{65,66}. Direct measurements of brain insulin sensitivity, and its relationship to dopamine signaling and effort-based decision-making, are necessary.

Second, it assumes that disturbances in insulin signaling are the principle mediators of the changes in dopamine function; an idea that does have support in the literature^{67,68}, but cannot be fully ascertained in a cross-sectional study. Moreover, recent evidence has indicated that the brain is also as an important regulator of systemic glucose and energy metabolism^{69,70}. For example, bromocriptine, a potent dopamine D2 receptor agonist, has been shown to improve glucose metabolism in humans⁷¹. Dopamine release in the striatum might enhance whole-body insulin sensitivity, whereas inhibition of dopamine activity might reduce it⁷⁰. Therefore, individuals predisposed to lower central dopamine activity may be more susceptible to the development of obesity and insulin resistance states. Disturbances in reward behavior,



particularly effort, might also affect peripheral metabolism indirectly, through lower levels of physical activity and changes in dietary quality and/or patterns^{72,73}. In addition, other important factors might confound and/or mediate the association between obesity and effort in MDD, such as the use of psychotropic medications. There is a need for longitudinal studies, with carefully selected and described samples, to answer these questions.

There is, however, evidence indicating that circadian rhythms can affect reward behavior^{75,76}, dopamine signaling^{77,78} and glucose/insulin metabolism⁷⁹⁻⁸¹; and are as well a prominent component of the overlap between mood and metabolic disorders^{40,82,83}. The potential effects of circadian rhythms should be directly explored and/or accounted for in future work in the area.

In conclusion, we believe that obesity is a result of, and induces, disturbances in reward/motivation and cognitive control. There is a need to parse the substrates that subserve motivation/reward disturbance in adults with obesity. There is an additional need to evaluate the disturbance in reward/motivation with a rigorous paradigm i.e. EEfRT. The results of this proposal will also reinforce the brain and body consequences of obesity.

This study is supported by an unrestricted research grant from Bausch Health to the Brain and Cognition Discovery Foundation, Toronto, ON.



References

- Covinsky KE, Cenzer IS, Yaffe K, O'Brien S, Blazer DG. Dysphoria and anhedonia as risk factors for disability or death in older persons: implications for the assessment of geriatric depression. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014;22(6):606-13.
- 2. McMakin DL, Olino TM, Porta G, Dietz LJ, Emslie G, Clarke G, Wagner KD, Asarnow JR, Ryan ND, Birmaher B and others. Anhedonia predicts poorer recovery among youth with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatmentresistant depression. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2012;51(4):404-11.
- Turner AD, Capuano AW, Wilson RS, Barnes LL. Depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in older african americans: two scales and their factors. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2015;23(6):568-78.
- 4. Vinckier F, Gourion D, Mouchabac S. Anhedonia predicts poor psychosocial functioning: Results from a large cohort of patients treated for major depressive disorder by general practitioners. Eur Psychiatry 2017;44:1-8.
- 5. McCabe C, Mishor Z, Cowen PJ, Harmer CJ. Diminished neural processing of aversive and rewarding stimuli during selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment. Biol Psychiatry 2010;67(5):439-45.
- 6. Nierenberg AA, Husain MM, Trivedi MH, Fava M, Warden D, Wisniewski SR, Miyahara S, Rush AJ. Residual symptoms after remission of major depressive disorder with citalopram and risk of relapse: a STAR*D report. Psychol Med 2010;40(1):41-50.
- 7. Nierenberg AA, Keefe BR, Leslie VC, Alpert JE, Pava JA, Worthington JJ, 3rd, Rosenbaum JF, Fava M. Residual symptoms in depressed patients who respond acutely to fluoxetine. J Clin Psychiatry 1999;60(4):221-5.
- Nusslock R, Alloy LB. Reward processing and mood-related symptoms: An RDoC and translational neuroscience perspective. J Affect Disord 2017;216:3-16.
- 9. Rizvi SJ, Pizzagalli DA, Sproule BA, Kennedy SH. Assessing anhedonia in depression: Potentials and pitfalls. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2016;65:21-35.
- 10. Thomsen KR. Measuring anhedonia: impaired ability to pursue, experience, and learn about reward. Front Psychol 2015;6:1409.
- 11. Kozak MJ, Cuthbert BN. The NIMH Research Domain Criteria Initiative: Background, Issues, and Pragmatics. Psychophysiology 2016;53(3):286-97.
- 12. Criteria NAMHCWoTaMfRD. Behavioral Assessment Methods for RDoC Constructs. . Bethesda, MD.2016.
- 13. Sherdell L, Waugh CE, Gotlib IH. Anticipatory pleasure predicts motivation for reward in major depression. J Abnorm Psychol 2012;121(1):51-60.
- 14. Treadway MT, Bossaller NA, Shelton RC, Zald DH. Effort-based decision-making in major depressive disorder: a translational model of motivational anhedonia. J Abnorm Psychol 2012;121(3):553-8.



- 15. Yang XH, Huang J, Zhu CY, Wang YF, Cheung EF, Chan RC, Xie GR. Motivational deficits in effort-based decision making in individuals with subsyndromal depression, first-episode and remitted depression patients. Psychiatry Res 2014;220(3):874-82.
- Clery-Melin ML, Schmidt L, Lafargue G, Baup N, Fossati P, Pessiglione M. Why don't you try harder? An investigation of effort production in major depression. PLoS One 2011;6(8):e23178.
- 17. Pizzagalli DA, Jahn AL, O'Shea JP. Toward an objective characterization of an anhedonic phenotype: a signal-detection approach. Biol Psychiatry 2005;57(4):319-27.
- 18. Treadway MT, Buckholtz JW, Schwartzman AN, Lambert WE, Zald DH. Worth the 'EEfRT'? The effort expenditure for rewards task as an objective measure of motivation and anhedonia. PLoS One 2009;4(8):e6598.
- Mannan M, Mamun A, Doi S, Clavarino A. Prospective Associations between Depression and Obesity for Adolescent Males and Females- A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Studies. PLoS One 2016;11(6):e0157240.
- 20. Mulugeta A, Zhou A, Power C, Hypponen E. Obesity and depressive symptoms in mid-life: a population-based cohort study. BMC Psychiatry 2018;18(1):297.
- 21. Mannan M, Mamun A, Doi S, Clavarino A. Is there a bi-directional relationship between depression and obesity among adult men and women? Systematic review and bias-adjusted meta analysis. Asian J Psychiatr 2016;21:51-66.
- 22. Jung SJ, Woo HT, Cho S, Park K, Jeong S, Lee YJ, Kang D, Shin A. Association between body size, weight change and depression: systematic review and metaanalysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017;211(1):14-21.
- 23. Davis C, Patte K, Levitan R, Reid C, Tweed S, Curtis C. From motivation to behaviour: a model of reward sensitivity, overeating, and food preferences in the risk profile for obesity. Appetite 2007;48(1):12-9.
- 24. Kroemer NB, Small DM. Fuel not fun: Reinterpreting attenuated brain responses to reward in obesity. Physiol Behav 2016;162:37-45.
- 25. Verdejo-Roman J, Vilar-Lopez R, Navas JF, Soriano-Mas C, Verdejo-Garcia A. Brain reward system's alterations in response to food and monetary stimuli in overweight and obese individuals. Hum Brain Mapp 2017;38(2):666-677.
- 26. Mathar D, Horstmann A, Pleger B, Villringer A, Neumann J. Is it Worth the Effort? Novel Insights into Obesity-Associated Alterations in Cost-Benefit Decision-Making. Front Behav Neurosci 2015;9:360.
- 27. Mata F, Treadway M, Kwok A, Truby H, Yucel M, Stout JC, Verdejo-Garcia A. Reduced Willingness to Expend Effort for Reward in Obesity: Link to Adherence to a 3-Month Weight Loss Intervention. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017;25(10):1676-1681.



- 28. Singh MK, Leslie SM, Packer MM, Zaiko YV, Phillips OR, Weisman EF, Wall DM, Jo B, Rasgon N. Brain and behavioral correlates of insulin resistance in youth with depression and obesity. Horm Behav 2018.
- 29. Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Zocca JM, Field SE, Drinkard B, Yanovski JA. Depressive symptoms and cardiorespiratory fitness in obese adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2012;50(1):87-92.
- 30. Carter J, Swardfager W. Mood and metabolism: Anhedonia as a clinical target in Type 2 diabetes. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2016;69:123-32.
- 31. Mansur RB, Brietzke E, McIntyre RS. Is there a "metabolic-mood syndrome"? A review of the relationship between obesity and mood disorders. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2015;52:89-104.
- 32. McIntyre RS, Best MW, Bowie CR, Carmona NE, Cha DS, Lee Y, Subramaniapillai M, Mansur RB, Barry H, Baune BT and others. The THINC-Integrated Tool (THINC-it) Screening Assessment for Cognitive Dysfunction: Validation in Patients With Major Depressive Disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 2017;78(7):873-881.
- Levy JC, Matthews DR, Hermans MP. Correct homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) evaluation uses the computer program. Diabetes Care 1998;21(12):2191-2.
- Lamers F, Vogelzangs N, Merikangas KR, de Jonge P, Beekman AT, Penninx BW. Evidence for a differential role of HPA-axis function, inflammation and metabolic syndrome in melancholic versus atypical depression. Mol Psychiatry 2013;18(6):692-9.
- 35. Levitan RD, Davis C, Kaplan AS, Arenovich T, Phillips DI, Ravindran AV. Obesity comorbidity in unipolar major depressive disorder: refining the core phenotype. J Clin Psychiatry 2012;73(8):1119-24.
- 36. Toups MS, Myers AK, Wisniewski SR, Kurian B, Morris DW, Rush AJ, Fava M, Trivedi MH. Relationship between obesity and depression: characteristics and treatment outcomes with antidepressant medication. Psychosom Med 2013;75(9):863-72.
- 37. Marijnissen RM, Vogelzangs N, Mulder ME, van den Brink RH, Comijs HC, Oude Voshaar RC. Metabolic dysregulation and late-life depression: a prospective study. Psychol Med 2017;47(6):1041-1052.
- 38. Jantaratnotai N, Mosikanon K, Lee Y, McIntyre RS. The interface of depression and obesity. Obes Res Clin Pract 2017;11(1):1-10.
- 39. Opel N, Redlich R, Grotegerd D, Dohm K, Heindel W, Kugel H, Arolt V, Dannlowski U. Obesity and major depression: Body-mass index (BMI) is associated with a severe course of disease and specific neurostructural alterations. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2015;51:219-26.
- 40. Amare AT, Schubert KO, Klingler-Hoffmann M, Cohen-Woods S, Baune BT. The genetic overlap between mood disorders and cardiometabolic diseases: a



systematic review of genome wide and candidate gene studies. Transl Psychiatry 2017;7(1):e1007.

- 41. Bornstein SR, Schuppenies A, Wong ML, Licinio J. Approaching the shared biology of obesity and depression: the stress axis as the locus of gene-environment interactions. Mol Psychiatry 2006;11(10):892-902.
- 42. Berk M, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, O'Neil A, Pasco JA, Moylan S, Allen NB, Stuart AL, Hayley AC, Byrne ML and others. So depression is an inflammatory disease, but where does the inflammation come from? BMC Med 2013;11:200.
- 43. Hryhorczuk C, Sharma S, Fulton SE. Metabolic disturbances connecting obesity and depression. Front Neurosci 2013;7:177.
- 44. Hidese S, Ota M, Matsuo J, Ishida I, Hiraishi M, Yoshida S, Noda T, Sato N, Teraishi T, Hattori K and others. Association of obesity with cognitive function and brain structure in patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord 2018;225:188-194.
- 45. Felger JC, Treadway MT. Inflammation Effects on Motivation and Motor Activity: Role of Dopamine. Neuropsychopharmacology 2017;42(1):216-241.
- 46. Meier TB, Drevets WC, Wurfel BE, Ford BN, Morris HM, Victor TA, Bodurka J, Teague TK, Dantzer R, Savitz J. Relationship between neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites and reductions in right medial prefrontal cortical thickness in major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun 2016;53:39-48.
- 47. Byrne ML, Whittle S, Allen NB. The Role of Brain Structure and Function in the Association Between Inflammation and Depressive Symptoms: A Systematic Review. Psychosom Med 2016;78(4):389-400.
- 48. Aihara M, Ida I, Yuuki N, Oshima A, Kumano H, Takahashi K, Fukuda M, Oriuchi N, Endo K, Matsuda H and others. HPA axis dysfunction in unmedicated major depressive disorder and its normalization by pharmacotherapy correlates with alteration of neural activity in prefrontal cortex and limbic/paralimbic regions. Psychiatry Res 2007;155(3):245-56.
- 49. Rasgon NL, McEwen BS. Insulin resistance-a missing link no more. Mol Psychiatry 2016;21(12):1648-1652.
- 50. Lee JH, Park SK, Ryoo JH, Oh CM, Mansur RB, Alfonsi JE, Cha DS, Lee Y, McIntyre RS, Jung JY. The association between insulin resistance and depression in the Korean general population. J Affect Disord 2017;208:553-559.
- 51. Havrankova J, Roth J, Brownstein M. Insulin receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system of the rat. Nature 1978;272(5656):827-9.
- 52. Hopkins DF, Williams G. Insulin receptors are widely distributed in human brain and bind human and porcine insulin with equal affinity. Diabet Med 1997;14(12):1044-50.
- 53. Russo SJ, Nestler EJ. The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 2013;14(9):609-25.
- 54. Haber SN, Knutson B. The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. Neuropsychopharmacology 2010;35(1):4-26.



- 55. Figlewicz DP, Sipols AJ. Energy regulatory signals and food reward. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2010;97(1):15-24.
- Guthoff M, Grichisch Y, Canova C, Tschritter O, Veit R, Hallschmid M, Haring HU, Preissl H, Hennige AM, Fritsche A. Insulin modulates food-related activity in the central nervous system. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95(2):748-55.
- 57. Kroemer NB, Krebs L, Kobiella A, Grimm O, Vollstadt-Klein S, Wolfensteller U, Kling R, Bidlingmaier M, Zimmermann US, Smolka MN. (Still) longing for food: insulin reactivity modulates response to food pictures. Hum Brain Mapp 2013;34(10):2367-80.
- 58. Kullmann S, Frank S, Heni M, Ketterer C, Veit R, Haring HU, Fritsche A, Preissl
 H. Intranasal insulin modulates intrinsic reward and prefrontal circuitry of the human brain in lean women. Neuroendocrinology 2013;97(2):176-82.
- 59. Eisenstein SA, Gredysa DM, Antenor-Dorsey JA, Green L, Arbelaez AM, Koller JM, Black KJ, Perlmutter JS, Moerlein SM, Hershey T. Insulin, Central Dopamine D2 Receptors, and Monetary Reward Discounting in Obesity. PLoS One 2015;10(7):e0133621.
- 60. Dunn JP, Kessler RM, Feurer ID, Volkow ND, Patterson BW, Ansari MS, Li R, Marks-Shulman P, Abumrad NN. Relationship of dopamine type 2 receptor binding potential with fasting neuroendocrine hormones and insulin sensitivity in human obesity. Diabetes Care 2012;35(5):1105-11.
- 61. Caravaggio F, Borlido C, Hahn M, Feng Z, Fervaha G, Gerretsen P, Nakajima S, Plitman E, Chung JK, Iwata Y and others. Reduced insulin sensitivity is related to less endogenous dopamine at D2/3 receptors in the ventral striatum of healthy nonobese humans. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2015;18(7):pyv014.
- 62. Steele KE, Prokopowicz GP, Schweitzer MA, Magunsuon TH, Lidor AO, Kuwabawa H, Kumar A, Brasic J, Wong DF. Alterations of central dopamine receptors before and after gastric bypass surgery. Obes Surg 2010;20(3):369-74.
- Treadway MT, Buckholtz JW, Cowan RL, Woodward ND, Li R, Ansari MS, Baldwin RM, Schwartzman AN, Kessler RM, Zald DH. Dopaminergic mechanisms of individual differences in human effort-based decision-making. J Neurosci 2012;32(18):6170-6.
- 64. Wardle MC, Treadway MT, Mayo LM, Zald DH, de Wit H. Amping up effort: effects of d-amphetamine on human effort-based decision-making. J Neurosci 2011;31(46):16597-602.
- 65. Sartorius T, Peter A, Heni M, Maetzler W, Fritsche A, Haring HU, Hennige AM. The brain response to peripheral insulin declines with age: a contribution of the blood-brain barrier? PLoS One 2015;10(5):e0126804.
- 66. Kullmann S, Heni M, Hallschmid M, Fritsche A, Preissl H, Haring HU. Brain Insulin Resistance at the Crossroads of Metabolic and Cognitive Disorders in Humans. Physiol Rev 2016;96(4):1169-209.



- 67. Kleinridders A, Cai W, Cappellucci L, Ghazarian A, Collins WR, Vienberg SG, Pothos EN, Kahn CR. Insulin resistance in brain alters dopamine turnover and causes behavioral disorders. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112(11):3463-8.
- 68. Stouffer MA, Woods CA, Patel JC, Lee CR, Witkovsky P, Bao L, Machold RP, Jones KT, de Vaca SC, Reith ME and others. Insulin enhances striatal dopamine release by activating cholinergic interneurons and thereby signals reward. Nat Commun 2015;6:8543.
- 69. Carey M, Kehlenbrink S, Hawkins M. Evidence for central regulation of glucose metabolism. J Biol Chem 2013;288(49):34981-8.
- 70. Ter Horst KW, Lammers NM, Trinko R, Opland DM, Figee M, Ackermans MT, Booij J, van den Munckhof P, Schuurman PR, Fliers E and others. Striatal dopamine regulates systemic glucose metabolism in humans and mice. Sci Transl Med 2018;10(442).
- Bahler L, Verberne HJ, Brakema E, Tepaske R, Booij J, Hoekstra JB, Holleman F. Bromocriptine and insulin sensitivity in lean and obese subjects. Endocr Connect 2016;5(6):44-52.
- 72. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Baler RD. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. Trends Cogn Sci 2011;15(1):37-46.
- 73. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W, Netusil N, Fowler JS. Brain dopamine and obesity. Lancet 2001;357(9253):354-7.
- 74. Ebrahimzadeh M, El Mansari M, Blier P. Partial inhibition of catecholamine activity and enhanced responsiveness to NMDA after sustained administration of vortioxetine. Neuropharmacology 2018;128:425-432.
- 75. Hasler BP, Sitnick SL, Shaw DS, Forbes EE. An altered neural response to reward may contribute to alcohol problems among late adolescents with an evening chronotype. Psychiatry Res 2013;214(3):357-64.
- 76. Boland EM, Bertulis K, Leong SH, Thase ME, Gehrman PR. Preliminary support for the role of reward relevant effort and chronotype in the depression/insomnia comorbidity. J Affect Disord 2019;242:220-223.
- 77. Verwey M, Dhir S, Amir S. Circadian influences on dopamine circuits of the brain: regulation of striatal rhythms of clock gene expression and implications for psychopathology and disease. F1000Res 2016;5.
- 78. Fifel K, Meijer JH, Deboer T. Circadian and Homeostatic Modulation of Multi-Unit Activity in Midbrain Dopaminergic Structures. Sci Rep 2018;8(1):7765.
- 79. Morris CJ, Purvis TE, Hu K, Scheer FA. Circadian misalignment increases cardiovascular disease risk factors in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113(10):E1402-11.
- 80. Morris CJ, Purvis TE, Mistretta J, Scheer FA. Effects of the Internal Circadian System and Circadian Misalignment on Glucose Tolerance in Chronic Shift Workers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016;101(3):1066-74.
- 81. Poggiogalle E, Jamshed H, Peterson CM. Circadian regulation of glucose, lipid, and energy metabolism in humans. Metabolism 2018;84:11-27.



- 82. Barandas R, Landgraf D, McCarthy MJ, Welsh DK. Circadian Clocks as Modulators of Metabolic Comorbidity in Psychiatric Disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2015;17(12):98.
- 83. Lyall LM, Wyse CA, Graham N, Ferguson A, Lyall DM, Cullen B, Celis Morales CA, Biello SM, Mackay D, Ward J and others. Association of disrupted circadian rhythmicity with mood disorders, subjective wellbeing, and cognitive function: a cross-sectional study of 91 105 participants from the UK Biobank. Lancet Psychiatry 2018;5(6):507-514.